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DEDICATION


John Miller: For my friend John O’Neill;




For my mother, Cindy Miller;


For the cops and agents and firefighters


who go in harm’s way;


For the innocent souls taken on September 11, 2001





Michael Stone: For my wife, Pam




Chris Mitchell: For my family, and in memory of Bill Godshalk







AUTHORS’ NOTE


A decision was made to publish the first edition of The Cell on schedule rather than delay its release for the weeks that would have been necessary to complete endnotes. With the paperback edition, we are able now to give due credit to all the primary and secondary sources from which the book drew, including those journalists whose work had contributed to the available public knowledge about the September 11 attacks.


We wish to apologize to Terry McDermott, the author of a superb Los Angeles Times profile of Mohamed Atta. McDermott’s reporting and observations about Atta’s formative years provided essential material for our Chapter 16, yet in the first edition there was only a single attribution to the Los Angeles Times in that chapter and none to Mr. McDermott. Our true debt to his work is reflected in both the new endnotes and in attributions we’ve added to the chapter.




PROLOGUE


September 11, 2001, started out as such a nice day—no, a beautiful day. Then it all turned.


ABC News/Good Morning America, 9:05 A.M.


DON DAHLER





Well, we see—it appears that there is more and more fire and smoke enveloping the very top of the building, and as fire crews are descending on this area, it—it does not appear that there’s any kind of an effort up there yet. Now remember—Oh, my God!





DIANE SAWYER





Oh my God! Oh my God!






CHARLES GIBSON



That looks like a second plane has just hit…


How many times have you heard someone say, “Well, things will never be the same.” It is rarely true. Things always go back to being the same. But not this time. Before the day was out many of my friends were dead. Many had just barely escaped. Many of them were badly hurt. Many who got out without even a scrape will be emotionally scarred for years if not forever. Many of them don’t even know it yet, or just won’t admit it.


Things will never be the same.


I have been a crime reporter since I was a teenager.* I have seen or heard everything that a crime reporter could. Or so I thought, until September 11, 2001. I was listening to the citywide radio frequency of the NYPD when I heard Joe Esposito, the NYPD chief, yell into his radio: “Car 3 to Central, advise the Pentagon New York City is under attack!” Been around a long time. Hadn’t heard that one before.


I sat with Peter Jennings at the anchor desk in New York watching the flames when a plume of white smoke appeared where the South Tower had stood.


DON DAHLER





The second building that was hit by the plane has just completely collapsed. The entire building has just collapsed…it folded down on itself and it’s not there anymore.





PETER JENNINGS





We are talking about massive casualties here at the moment and we have—whoo—that is extraordinary.






DON DAHLER





There is panic on the streets. There are people screaming and running from the site. The gigantic plume of smoke has reached me and I’m probably a quarter of a mile north of there.





By the time the Towers collapsed in a cloud of metal and dust and humanity, I knew this was the work of bin Laden. No one told me. No one had to. It had been a long time coming. I was part of the small club, regarded by many as alarmists, who had been predicting a major attack on U.S. soil since just before the millennium. Even so, I never imagined this result. Nor, do I think, did anyone else.


Things will never be the same.


Those of us who had studied terrorism in general or bin Laden in particular knew that the most reliable way to predict future behavior was to examine past behavior. Truck-bombs, murders, yes—even airplane hijackings. But no one had ever used a huge jetliner as a projectile—a missile—against a skyscraper before. No one had ever committed mass murder on this scale in a set of coordinated acts of terrorism in a single day. Not until September 11, 2001. That was the day my crime story turned into a war. Or had it been one all along?


We all asked, how could this have happened, how could we not have known, why were we not prepared? This book will answer many of those questions. No doubt years will be spent parsing every memo and intelligence report to see what little clues might have been missed. We will deal with that in this story too. But if there is any true value to this narrative, it is not the little picture of the single clue passed over; it is the big picture, the one you have to stand back from, to appreciate its shape and detail.


How did this happen to us? To find the answers we had to go back more than a decade and follow the thread forward to September 11, 2001. As we did, a recurring pattern emerged. It raises questions: Was the FBI fully up to the job of countering terrorists? What about the CIA? Was terrorism a priority in the Bush White House or in Ashcroft’s Justice Department prior to September 11, 2001?


This is not a book about how the FBI agents or the CIA’s officers on the front lines screwed up. Quite the contrary. Successful cases and captures were made. A number of horrific terrorist plots were disrupted. We found in almost every case that the cops, agents and spies who followed their instincts were usually in the right place and on the right trail. But we found a recurring pattern. Over and over again the investigators were waved off the right trail. The reasons ranged from risk-averse bosses to bureaucratic structures that seemed designed to ensure that the left hand would never know what the right hand was doing.


What struck us was the remarkable stories of those investigators. What we learned is that for more than a decade, the very system they worked for seemed to conspire against them as often as it supported them.


In many ways it seems like America was the sleeping giant. Every time the terrorism alarm went off, the giant stirred to consciousness, hit the snooze button and went back to sleep. Each time it sounded the alarm was a little louder. The Kahane murder, the World Trade Center bombing, the plot to blow up bridges and tunnels, the East Africa embassy bombings, the USS Cole attack.


In 1998, I sat with Osama bin Laden in a hut in Afghanistan as he told me he was declaring war on America. His words at the time may have sounded hyperbolic, but read them now.




“We are sure of our victory. Our battle with the Americans is larger than our battle with the Russians. We predict a black day for America and the end of the United States.”




From the moment bin Laden declared war on America, one of his frustrations seemed to be that he couldn’t get America to declare war back. Not until the loudest and bloodiest alarm sounded on September 11 did the giant finally awake.







CHAPTER 1
SEPTEMBER 11



On the morning of September 11, 2001, Michael Wright, a 30-year-old sales executive, woke at 6:30. Stocky, with a broad Irish face and an easy manner, he rolled over to hug his wife, then remembered she’d gone with their four-month-old son to visit Michael’s parents in Boston. With the place to himself, Wright thought about sleeping in, but heard his grandfather’s voice barking at him from the grave: “Get your lazy butt to work.”


Outside his apartment—a brownstone floor-through facing Prospect Park in Brooklyn—it was a brilliant end-of-summer day, bell-clear with a hint of coolness in the air. Wright was looking forward to work. He had two deals pending and with plans to buy his apartment, he was eager for the commissions. Showered and dressed, he made the subway commute into Lower Manhattan in 20 minutes and exited on Broadway and Dey Street, two blocks due east of his office, a telecommunications equipment company headquartered in the World Trade Center.


Looking up, he marveled at the familiar Twin Towers massed against the sky. Sunlight glanced off the steel rails running up the buildings’ sides, making them shine. But what really impressed Wright was their size, their head-snapping height, the sheer, unholy dimensions of their heavenly reach. They embodied, as no other buildings did, the economic muscle he wanted his company to project each time he handed out his business card or told someone where he worked. He walked briskly across the plaza and took the elevator to the 81st floor of the North Tower, getting to his desk by 7:45.


While Wright got started on paperwork, Mayor Rudy Giuliani was bullying midtown traffic in his official car, a white SUV familiarly known as the ice-cream van. He was headed for a breakfast meeting at the Peninsula Hotel on West 55th Street with his counsel, Dennison Young, then back uptown to the Richard R. Green School in Harlem to vote in the elections that would determine his successor. It was Primary Day in New York and the city’s political nerves were twitching.


As Giuliani entered the Peninsula’s starched dining room shortly after 8:00 A. M., American Airlines Flight 11 was making its ascent over Boston’s Logan Airport. En route to Los Angeles, the wide-bodied jet carried 81 passengers and a crew of 11. About 10 minutes later, a second Boeing 767 took off for LA. This flight, United Airlines 175, carried 56 passengers and a crew of nine. Both flights departed without incident, and control tower workers were settling into their early-morning routines when at 8:14, the American plane failed to respond to an air-traffic controller’s instruction to increase its altitude. The controller tried to raise the pilot on the radio, without success. Then at 8:24, he overheard a strange communication originating from the plane’s cockpit. “We have some planes,” an accented male voice announced. “Just stay quiet and you will be okay. We are returning to the airport. Nobody move. Everything will be okay. If you try to make any moves, you’ll endanger yourself and the airplane. Just stay quiet.”


Moments before, an American Airlines reservations supervisor had received a call from Betty Ong, a flight attendant on Flight 11, describing a hijacking in progress. According to the Wall Street Journal, the supervisor had patched the call through to Craig Marquis, the veteran manager-on-duty at American’s operations center in Fort Worth, Texas. Nearly hysterical, Ong told him that two flight attendants had been stabbed and that one was on oxygen. The hijackers, she said, had also slit one passenger’s throat and stormed the cockpit.


While Marquis verified Ong’s employee number and gleaned details about the hijackers’ seat assignments, air-traffic controllers tried to track the hijacked plane’s flight path. It had turned south over Albany in the direction of New York City and begun flying erratically—apparently while the hijackers were overcoming the pilots—but the hijackers had then turned off the flight transponder, a device that allows controllers to distinguish a plane’s radar image from among the hundreds of other blips on a screen. The controllers had no idea where the plane was heading.


As the controllers made last-ditch efforts to communicate with AAL 11, Madeline Amy Sweeney, a 35-year-old attendant on the flight, called Michael Woodward, an American flight services manager at Logan, and went on to calmly describe the hijackers as four Middle Eastern men, some wearing red bandanas and wielding box cutters. “This plane,” she said, “has been hijacked.”


Suddenly, she reported, the plane swerved and began descending. “What’s your location?” Woodward asked her. Sweeney looked out a window and told him she saw water and buildings.


“Oh my God,” she said then. “Oh my God.”


About 8:45 Michael Wright visited the men’s room, located near the elevator bank at the center of the 81st floor of the North Tower. On his way out he ran into a coworker, Arturo Gonzalez, and stopped briefly to chat with him. Suddenly the building shuddered and Wright heard a crash—a screeching, metal-on-metal jolt—and was thrown back against the wall.


The lights blinked and for a moment, the whole building seemed to teeter. Wright waited for the room to settle and adjusted his vision. Everything had changed. The marble facade on the opposite wall was shattered and a huge crack had opened up in the drywall behind. The floor had buckled and Gonzalez was propped up against the broken vanity. The sinks themselves had moved out from the wall. “What the fuck was that?” Wright asked.


“Holy shit,” Gonzalez intoned.


Smoke threaded through the air between them.


They headed out to the hallway, where the devastation was horrendous. Chunks of roof were falling, the facing wall was ripped open and the elevator doors to their right had blown out. The whole building, Wright realized, had shifted on its foundation. Every joining surface was awry; every hinge was twisted or bent. A crater had opened in the floor ahead of him exposing wires, pipes, girders and beams at least ten floors below. Acrid smoke poured out of the elevator shafts.


Wright’s instinct was to get the hell out of there, but instead he turned back toward his office to check on his coworkers. As he ran past the elevators, he heard screaming from the ladies’ room. The jamb above the door had caved, trapping whoever was inside. Gonzalez and another colleague began kicking down the door.


Wright’s 30 or so officemates were pouring out into the hall. Some were calm, others terrified or in tears. He directed them to the stairwell. Flaming chunks of material were falling around them and Wright could smell burning fuel, though he had no idea where it was coming from.




John O’Neill, the World Trade Center’s 49-year-old chief of security, dashed out of his South Tower office to assess the situation. A brusque, larger-thanlife New York character, O’Neill had spent all but a few days of his professional life at the FBI, the last eight years as one of its top counterterrorism officials. Ironically, he’d retired from the Bureau two weeks before in order to take what friends called a cushy private-sector job, and former colleagues still regarded him as the nation’s most knowledgeable counterterrorist. Only the night before, over dinner with friends, he’d expressed a fear that New York was ripe for an attack like the one he now found himself in the midst of. He made a quick damage inspection, placed a call on his cell phone, and then sprinted back inside to help coordinate the rescue effort.




Joe Lhota, Rudy Giuliani’s chief of staff, felt the explosion in his office at City Hall almost a half mile from the World Trade Center. He dashed out onto the steps, saw the flames engulfing the tower and called Giuliani at the Peninsula. An aide answered the phone. “Tell the mayor a plane has hit the Trade Center,” Lhota said.


Back downtown at One Police Plaza, anxious aides pounded on Bernie Kerik’s bathroom door. The 46-year-old bullet-shaped police commissioner had worked out earlier in the vest-pocket gym attached to his office and was taking advantage of a break in his busy schedule to shower and change. He answered the door wearing nothing but a towel, a beardful of shaving cream, and a “this better be good” expression.


“A plane just hit the World Trade towers,” several staffers said at once.


“All right, relax. Calm down,” Kerik said, noting the worry in their faces. He was thinking small aircraft, an accident.


“You don’t understand, Boss,” John Picciano, his chief aide, said. “You can see it from the window. It’s enormous.”


Kerik realized that every phone on the floor was ringing.


Still wrapped in a towel, he followed Picciano through the outer office to a conference room at the southwest corner of the building and looked out at the Trade Center. Then he ran back to his office to call the mayor, who was already headed downtown, and got dressed.


He was out of the building within four minutes, at the scene in eight. Pulling up in his black four-door Chrysler at the corner of Vesey and West Broadway, he saw people jumping out of windows 90, 100 stories up, one after another. For the first time in his 25-year law enforcement career, he felt totally helpless.


More than a thousand miles away, at American’s operations center in Fort Worth, top executives were experiencing similar feelings. With the assistance of the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA), the center’s technicians had finally managed to isolate Flight 11’s radar image on Aircraft Situation Display—a big-screen tracking device used for just such emergencies—and stunned officials watched as the blips approached New York, froze and then vanished. Still no one knew what had happened. Even when a ramp supervisor called from Kennedy Airport several minutes later to report that a plane had crashed into the World Trade Center, they couldn’t believe that it was Flight 11.


Meanwhile, air-traffic controllers back east were scrambling to make contact with two more rogue planes, according to a New York Times report. Even before the first World Trade Center crash, United’s Flight 175 seemed to be in trouble. At 8:41, one of its pilots had radioed them that he’d heard a suspicious transmission emanating earlier from Flight 11. “Someone keyed the mike and said, ‘Everyone stay in their seats,’” the pilot told the controllers. Minutes later, Flight 175 swerved off course and shut down communication.


Almost simultaneously, air-traffic controllers lost contact with a second American flight, AAL 77, a Boeing 757 en route from Washington’s Dulles International Airport to Los Angeles with 58 passengers and 6 crew on board. At 8:56, just moments after the first World Trade Center crash, that plane doubled back toward Washington, shut off its transponder, and didn’t answer repeated calls from a controller out of Indianapolis.


Airline executives were finding it impossible to keep abreast of developments in the air. Officials at United’s operations center outside Chicago had just gotten news of the first Trade Center crash, when Doc Miles, the center’s shift manager, received an alarming communication from United’s maintenance department in San Francisco. Moments before, a mechanic had fielded a call from an attendant on Flight 175 saying the pilots had been killed, a flight attendant stabbed and the plane hijacked.


Miles questioned the report; it was an American Airlines jet that had been hijacked, he pointed out, not a United plane. But the mechanic confirmed that the call had come from United Flight 175 from Boston to LA and frantic efforts by a dispatcher to raise the cockpit were met with silence. Meanwhile, executives watching CNN on an overhead screen in United’s crisis room saw a large, still unidentified aircraft crash into the Trade Center’s South Tower.




I had just walked out of Good Morning America’s Times Square studios and when I’d got to my car all hell had broken loose. My pager went off. My cell phone rang, and so did the car phone. I know from experience, this is never good news.


“A plane crashed into the World Trade Center,” Kris Sebastian, the ABC News’s national assignment manager, told me.


“I’m on my way,” I said. I calculated the routes to the scene. I could get there in 12 to 15 minutes if I drove a smart, back-road route and ran some lights. But a network crew starting out from the office would take longer, and a satellite truck, which is what I would need to “go live,” would take an hour to be ready for broadcast. I really wanted to go to the scene. That’s what I had done my whole life. I was a “street guy.” But I also realized that the news choppers would already be broadcasting live pictures from the scene.


I could hear information pouring out of the police radio in my car. When I finally got to the corner of 44th Street and Eighth Avenue, I called the news desk and told them: Change of plans. I’m coming in and will help with live coverage from the set of the ABC News Desk.


Not much more than a minute later, police radio still in hand, I was sitting down next to Peter Jennings. We watched with astonishment as the second plane crashed into the other tower. Peter, never one to rush to conclusions—especially on the air—looked at me. “Whatever we thought this was, we now know what it is,” I said. “This is a terrorist attack.”





Back at the site, Kerik was patrolling the plaza’s uptown boundary, making calls on his cell phone and shouting instructions at chief aide John Picciano to set up a command post a few blocks north, when he heard the explosion of the second crash. He looked up and saw a massive fireball shooting out of the South Tower straight at him. But he didn’t see the plane itself, which had banked low across the harbor and slammed into the south side of the building. “How the hell did the fire leap from one tower to the other?” he wondered.


There was no time to figure out what happened. The crash was sending debris flying toward Kerik and his men. For a moment they stood transfixed, watching the deadly shrapnel make its descent. It looked like confetti, it was so high. Then someone yelled at them to get out of there and they took off up West Broadway.


As Kerik ducked around the corner into a garage on Barclay Street, someone told him that a United Airlines plane had hit the building. Instantly he realized they were being attacked by terrorists. He thought, “How many more planes are up there? What are the other targets?” He began calling for a mobilization and ordered his chief deputy commissioner to evacuate police headquarters, City Hall, the UN, and the Empire State Building.


Within minutes, Giuliani arrived at the corner of Barclay and West Broadway, and Kerik, joining him, reported that the city was under attack. “We’ve got to cut off the air space,” Giuliani said.


Kerik relayed the order to Picciano, adding, “Get us some air support. We need F16s.”


Picciano was looking at him like he was crazy. “What the fuck are you talking about?” he said.


Kerik realized how surreal the situation had become. He was a police commissioner, not a general in the army. Who the hell do you call to get an F16, anyway? Is there a number for that?




In fact, the FAA had already notified the Northeast Air Defense Sector in Rome, New York, at 8:40, about ten minutes after controllers began to suspect that they had a hijacking in progress. At 8:46, Otis Air National Guard Base near Falmouth, Massachusetts, had gotten a call from NORAD, the North American Aerospace Defense Command, and scrambled two F15s, 1977-vintage fighters equipped with heat-seeking missiles. The planes were dispatched immediately, and were airborne by 8:52, but they were still some 70 miles—eight minutes—away when the second plane, UAL 175, crashed into the Trade Center at 9:03.




By then, Michael Wright had fallen in with his coworkers on the stairs and was being joined by people from the floors above and below. They descended the narrow stairs slowly, two abreast.


Twenty floors down, the mood lightened. Wright heard tones of relief, trails of nervous laughter. “I don’t care what time it is,” someone said. “I’m going to get a drink at John Street [bar and grill].”


Conversation turned from what people had seen to what might have actually happened. Wright initially thought that a gas main had exploded; now people around him speculated it was a bomb. Nobody knew for sure. They’d been frantically trying their cell phones, but service was down. At length, a stranger with a BlackBerry, a wireless email device, informed them that a plane had crashed into their building and that the tower next door had also been hit.


Wright knew at once that terrorists had attacked them. One crash might be an accident, two had to be intentional. But he assumed they’d used small planes, Cessnas maybe—the kind of light commuter craft he’d seen routinely winging past his office window.


Another 20 floors down, Wright’s sense of relief turned to dread. Firefighters, rescue workers and police shouldered past him on their way upstairs. Most of them were stern-faced, but some were clearly frightened. Many of them, he realized later, had been about to die.


Arriving at the fire department’s makeshift command post on West Street in the shadow of 1 World Trade Center, the mayor and the police commissioner witnessed a scene of almost unimaginable horror. Hundreds of office workers were streaming out of both towers under a rain of glass, steel and airplane and body parts; the air was choked with smoke and ash; the street awash in blood.


Surrounded by aides, Giuliani met briefly with the fire department’s top commanders—Thomas Von Essen, the commissioner; Bill Feehan, his first deputy; Pete Ganci, the chief of department; and Deputy Chief Ray Downey. Giuliani listened to their plans to evacuate the buildings, while Kerik consulted with police. One familiar face on the scene belonged to John Coughlin, an Emergency Services Unit (ESU) sergeant who had once saved Kerik’s daughter from choking.


About 9:40, Giuliani and Kerik, now joined by the fire commissioner and other top administration officials, trooped a few blocks north to set up a forward command post. “God bless you,” the mayor said to Ganci on leaving.


“Thank you,” Ganci said. “God bless you.”


“Pray for us,” Giuliani then said to Mychal Judge, the department chaplain, who was standing nearby.


“Don’t worry,” Judge told the mayor. “I always do.”




Informed that another one of their flights was lost after the first World Trade Center crash, officials at American’s operations center began to realize that the morning’s events were more than an ordinary hijacking. Gerard Arpey, American’s executive vice president of operations, immediately grounded every plane in the Northeast that wasn’t already airborne. Moments later, when he heard that United also had a plane hijacked, he ordered all American flights grounded nationwide.


United was taking similar actions. Andy Studdert, United’s COO, froze all international flights on the ground at 9:20. At 9:30, he ordered all domestic flights out of the air. By then, however, United had another plane in trouble.


Thirty-eight-year-old former flight attendant Deena Burnett had risen in her family’s modest Bay Area home at 6:00 A.M.—9:00 EDT—to get her three daughters ready for school. While she prepared breakfast—pop-up cinnamon waffles, milk—Deena’s attention was drawn to the TV, then airing reports of the first World Trade Center crash. Her husband Tom was flying home from Newark that morning and she felt a twinge of worry. She thought about calling Tom’s mother to find out what flight he was on, but decided not to.


Fifteen minutes later, Deena’s mother-in-law called her, expressing the same concern. Deena tried to calm her. The airlines had hundreds of flights up each morning and those were just the commercial jets, she said. The plane in the reports might have actually been private. They were still talking at 9:20 EDT when another call came in on the other line. It was Tom. “Are you okay?” Deena asked.


“No,” he said. “I’m on United Airlines 93 from Newark to San Francisco. The plane has been hijacked.” He was speaking quickly and quietly, as though he were afraid of being overheard. Deena understood the hijackers must have been close by. “We are in the air,” he went on. “One guy knifed a guy. They’re saying they’ve got a bomb onboard. Please call the authorities.”


The line went dead.




Michael Wright reached the 20th floor of 1 World Trade Center at about 9:30, nearly 40 minutes after he’d begun his descent. Emergency workers there were asking for volunteers to escort the elderly and infirm the rest of the way. Wright, who knew CPR, made several runs up and down, and then, satisfied that there were no stragglers, exited onto the mezzanine, heading east toward the plaza on his way back to his subway entrance. But when he rounded the elevator banks he had to alter his route. With its central fountain, flowers and statuary, the plaza had always been a refuge for Wright, a place to meet friends, picnic at lunchtime and listen to the bands that played in the warm weather. But this morning it was a war zone. There was debris everywhere—chunks of metal, shattered glass, burning material. Wright made out the fuselage of one of the jumbo jets, his first realization of the enormity of the catastrophe. But it wasn’t this that riveted his attention. It was the human wreckage, the bodies and parts of bodies—limbs, torsos, entrails—strewn amid the rubble. Facing him, perfectly intact, was the severed head of a woman. Pert, blond, the same age as him, her eyes were still open. Reflexively, he lifted a magazine he’d been carrying—he’d brought it with him to the men’s room—and shielded his eyes from the carnage.




That carnage had now spread beyond the Trade Center. As Wright had been walking down the stairs of the North Tower, AA 77—the LA-bound flight out of Dulles—was racing back across Pennsylvania toward Washington. At 9:24 NORAD ordered Langley AFB in Hampton, Virginia, to scramble three F16s together. They were in the air by 9:30. Though they still didn’t know Flight 77’s precise location, they headed toward New York at their top speed. Just after 9:30 a controller at Dulles observed a “fast-moving primary target” about to move into restricted air space above the Capitol. An airport supervisor immediately alerted the Secret Service, who evacuated the White House. At 9:36, the plane was identified as a Boeing 757, the same model as the missing American aircraft. By then, the plane had crossed over the Pentagon and begun a 360-degree turn that would bring it nearly to ground level. NORAD rerouted the F16 fighters west to Ronald Reagan Washington National Airport, but they were too far away to intercept, and two minutes later, at 9:38, AA Flight 77 slammed into the west side of the Pentagon, obliterating itself and killing everyone on board.


Meantime, United officials were frantically attempting to communicate with UAL 93. The San Francisco-bound flight had been traveling over western Pennsylvania when, just before 9:30, air-traffic controllers had heard someone in the cockpit say, “Hey, get out of here,” then someone else with a thick Middle Eastern accent addressing the passengers: “This is your captain. There is a bomb on board. Remain in your seats. We are returning to the airport.”


Almost simultaneously, Tom Burnett called his wife a second time. “They’re in the cockpit,” he announced.


In the ten minutes since Tom’s first call, Deena Burnett had contacted the FBI and was still trying to explain to a series of agents that her husband’s flight was not one of the planes that had already crashed into the Trade Center. She put them on hold and told Tom about the earlier attacks.


“Were they commercial planes?” he asked.


“I don’t know. They’re speculating on the news that they might have been private or cargo planes. There’s no visible identification.”


“Do you know who’s involved?”


Deena couldn’t answer. Tom’s first call had been brief, businesslike, his way of conveying the facts efficiently. Now he was trying to get information from her, assess the forces he was up against. After nearly ten years of marriage, Deena knew what her husband was planning.


Tom Burnett was the ultimate can-do guy. At 38, the muscular six-foot-two former college football player was the head of a medical equipment company with more than 700 employees and $80 million in sales, a man used to making executive decisions. He wasn’t ever rash, but he never flinched from a challenge either. Here he was in the middle of a hijacking—there was a man lying wounded in the aisle just a few feet from him—and yet he was coolly debriefing his wife about his attackers’ MO, the nature and targets of their threats.


“The guy they knifed is dead,” he said then. “They’re telling us there’s a bomb onboard. Do you think it’s true?”


“Have you seen a bomb?” Deena asked.


“No.” He paused. “I gotta go.”


The call had lasted no more than 30 seconds. Deena had the sense that Tom was already moving around the airplane, conferring with other passengers, formulating a plan, enlisting support. Deena got back on the phone with the FBI. A policeman, perhaps alerted by her earlier 911 call, showed up to sit with her. She shooed the children upstairs to dress and make their beds. One of her five-year-old twins, Madison, started crying. She’d heard her father on the phone and was upset that she couldn’t speak to him. “Daddy’s on an airplane,” Deena told her. “He’s having a little problem. You can speak to him when he comes home.”


It never occurred to Deena that he might not come home. At one point she even thought, “If Tom’s plane is on time, he’ll be back by seven. What do I need to get for dinner?”


Just then, the news was reporting that the Pentagon had been hit. Deena thought it was Tom’s plane. She’d been so busy with the children, fielding calls—the FBI’s, her in-laws’, Tom’s—so used to her husband’s confidence she had perhaps mistaken it as her confidence. She realized that in spite of her training and experience as a flight attendant, she hadn’t considered the implications of what was happening. And so now, without warning, when she thought Tom might be dead, she began to wail, a long, high-pitched keening sound that she’d never heard before and couldn’t seem to control.


The children had never heard it either, and it sounded so strange that at first they thought she was laughing, and they began to laugh too. But then they realized there was something wrong and they gathered around her, hugging her, and she knew she had to stop it, and then Tom called again.


“Tom, are you okay?” she asked.


“No, I’m not,” he answered, a hint of impatience in his voice.


“They just hit the Pentagon,” she said, composing herself. “It looks like they’re taking planes and hitting designated landmarks up and down the East Coast.”


“How many are involved?” he asked.


“I don’t know,” Deena said. “Three have already crashed and they’re speculating two more have been hijacked. I’ve already called the authorities. They didn’t know about your plane until I called.”


“We can’t wait for the authorities,” he said.


“Is there anything else I can do?” she asked.


“Pray, Deena, just pray.”


Then he said, “I think we’re going to have to do something. [The hijackers are] talking about running the plane into the ground.” Before they’d lost control of the cockpit, the pilots had switched on the intercom to the cabin. Passengers could hear the hijackers discussing their plans in fragmented English.


“What is the probability of their having a bomb onboard?” Tom asked. “I don’t think they have one. I haven’t seen a bomb. They’re just telling us about that.”


“I love you,” Deena said.


“Don’t worry. I’ll call you back.”




Emergency workers in the mezzanine of 1 World Trade Center directed Wright down the east escalators to the main lobby. From there he made his way through the mall underneath the plaza to another bank of escalators leading up to the lobby of 5 World Trade Center, a smaller building facing Church Street at the northeast corner of the complex.


Wright had his arm around two women coworkers. In just minutes they’d be out of the Center altogether. But when they were nearly at street level, Wright heard a thunderous noise above them, like the roar of an F16 directly overhead. He clambered up the last few steps of the escalator to check out its source and froze. In the mirrored glass front of the Millennium Hotel across the road, he could see the South Tower’s one million tons of steel and concrete collapsing behind him. Instinctively he knew it was too late to make a run for it; debris was already raining onto the street. He ran back into the lobby and threw himself and his coworkers headlong against an interior wall.


Everything went black. The roar had reached a crescendo and he was inundated with falling material: drywall, wood splinters, plaster. He tucked his head into his chest and, thinking he was about to die, shouted the names of his wife and baby.




“The building’s coming down!” someone yelled. “Hit the deck.” A detective guarding the mayor shoved him under a desk in the ground-floor offices that Giuliani and his aides had commandeered as part of a temporary operations base at 75 Barclay Street. Moments before, Giuliani had been talking to Vice President Cheney, who had called from a bunker underneath the White House. Within seconds, the phone had gone dead. Then the building started to tremble and someone noticed that the South Tower, just a few blocks away, was collapsing. Seconds more, and the windows in the building started popping and a column of smoke and dust poured through the door.


Giuliani and his aides had to get out fast. Several doors leading to the street were locked and they trekked down to the basement and then back up to the lobby before building workers guided them out. They exited onto Church Street—which was as dark as night under a cover of smoke, dust and debris—and, swept up in a tide of office workers, began running north until they reached daylight, some three blocks uptown.




Wright lay on the ground for a full minute after the collapse, stood up slowly and felt his body. He wasn’t hurt, but he was gagging. His nose, mouth and ears were packed with dust. He tried to spit out the grit and vomited instead, clearing his airway. His eyes hurt and he still couldn’t see. He thought he might be blind, then realized somehow he was in a small, enclosed space, buried under rubble. He knew there were others with him. He could hear their cries and moans. But his attention was fixed elsewhere. The space was filling quickly with smoke; in a matter of minutes, they would all suffocate.


He ripped off his shirt, soaked from the overhead sprinklers, wrapped it around his head, dropped to his knees below the blanket of noxious smoke and began crawling through the flooded enclosure.


A light blinked on. He scrambled to its source. A firefighter, trapped along with the others, was probing the perimeter with a flashlight. Wright was uncertain how far down they were buried and was still entertaining thoughts of asphyxiation when the firefighter unsheathed the axe he was carrying and began hacking at a store-size window so caked with dust that Wright had mistaken it for a cement wall. The glass shattered easily and Wright’s spirits soared as he escaped down into a deserted bookstore and from there into the dust and smoke-filled air of Lower Manhattan.




Not long before 10:00 A.M. EDT, Tom Burnett called home a fourth time from UAL 93. “Have you heard anything else?” he asked.


“No.”


“Well, a group of us are going to do something.”


“No,” his wife said, her flight attendant reflexes kicking in. “Sit down. Be still and be quiet and don’t draw attention to yourself.”


“No, Deena. If they’re going to run the plane into the ground, we have to do something.”


Deena couldn’t say anything. He kept repeating. “We’re going to do something. If we’re going to die, we’re going to have to do something.


“Pray, Deena.”


“Okay,” she said.


He hung up. The call had lasted under a minute.


Since her mother-in-law’s call 45 minutes earlier, Deena had not put down the phone once. Even as she fed and dressed her daughters and herself, mimicking her husband’s competence and confidence as best she could, she clung to the portable receiver.


As Tom hung up from her the fourth and last time, a number of like-minded passengers were wrapping up calls to friends and loved ones, announcing their intentions to take back the plane.


Seated across from Burnett in the fourth row, Mark Bingham, 31, called his mother to tell her that he loved her. He was so upset and flustered that when she came on the line, he announced, “Mom, this is Mark Bingham.”


Farther back in the plane, Jeremy Glick, a 31-year-old Internet sales manager and former judo champion, managed to reach his wife using his seat-back phone. Having described the hijackers—three Middle Eastern men wielding knives—he told her the passengers had taken a vote and decided to storm the cockpit.


“Do what you have to do,” Lyzbeth Glick told him.


Sandy Bradshaw, a flight attendant forced back to the rear of the plane, told her husband in Greensboro, North Carolina, that she was boiling water to use as a weapon against the hijackers.


Todd Beamer, a 32-year-old account manager for Oracle Corp., concluded a 13-minute conversation with Lisa Jefferson, a GTE Airfone supervisor who’d come on the line after Beamer had punched “0” on his seat-back phone.


Beamer had passed along as many details about the hijacking as he could think of. He’d asked Jefferson to tell his pregnant wife and two sons how much he loved them and to recite the Lord’s Prayer and the 23rd Psalm with him. Then he’d informed her of the plan to rush the hijackers. “I’m going to have to go out on faith,” he’d said.


A few minutes before 10:00, Jefferson heard him ask another passenger: “Are you ready?” Then she heard Beamer say, “Okay, let’s roll.”




Meanwhile, to the south, the three F16 fighter pilots from Langley were also receiving a series of troubling communications. First they heard an FAA transmission grounding all civilian aircraft. Then they picked up a squawk on their transponders putting them on near emergency wartime status. Finally, after confirming the Pentagon crash, they were radioed a chilling instruction from a Secret Service official: “Protect the White House at all costs.”


Now, as they patrolled the capital’s skies, the three pilots, two of whom also flew for commercial airlines, were faced with the prospect of having to shoot down a civilian plane with U.S. passengers and crew aboard.


That possibility never arose.


At approximately 10:00 A.M., Flight 93 crashed in an uninhabited field near Shanksville, Pennsylvania, 80 miles southeast of Pittsburgh and 163 miles from the White House, its putative target.


The cockpit recorder picked up the sounds of a violent struggle. Investigators speculate that a group of passengers wrested control of the plane from the hijackers and crashed it into the field. Tom Burnett, along with 33 fellow passengers, 7 crew and 4 hijackers, perished in the crash.




Sitting next to Peter Jennings in the ABC News studio, I heard a cop yell that the second tower was coming down. I interrupted Peter to point to the monitor. As the tower was going down, I was tempted to say something—anything—just out of shock. But as the plume of smoke rose into the skyline, Jennings looked at the monitor, knowing our mikes were live, and held up his hands preempting any comment. He had the good sense to know that this was such a profound moment that words would be superfluous, even inappropriate.





Giuliani and his aides had regrouped on Church Street and were slowly walking uptown when, at about 10:30, the North Tower imploded with countless people still trapped inside. Once again a black cloud of smoke, dust and debris mushroomed over Lower Manhattan, menacing the mayor’s contingent. A detective threw his arm around Giuliani, shielding him as best he could, and they took off up Church Street. “Just keep going north!” Giuliani shouted, according to New York 1 News reporter Andrew Kirtzman.


Giuliani and his aides began searching for a new base of operations. Several suggestions—the First Precinct house, the Fire Museum—were nixed in favor of the nearby Tribeca Grand, a trendy downtown hotel. But the hotel’s chic decor and well-heeled clientele seemed to clash with the gravity of their mission, not to mention the Mayor’s populist style. After a quick tour through the lobby, they poured back out on the street and headed uptown toward Greenwich Village.


Their wanderings led them to Engine Co. 24 at Sixth Avenue and Houston, where they decided to encamp. Still they had to wait precious minutes while someone jimmied the lock; the entire company had gone down to the Trade Center. Finally, at 10:54, Giuliani, ensconced in a small, glass-enclosed office, gave his first interview over the phone to local TV news anchors. He told them that he’d been in touch with White House officials who had secured the city’s airspace. He said that he’d talked to Governor George Pataki several times and they’d agreed to postpone the primary. Then he addressed the people who’d lost loved ones in the disaster. “My heart goes out to [you],” he said. “I’ve never seen anything like this. I was there from shortly after it happened and saw people jumping out of the World Trade Center. It’s a horrible, horrible situation, and all I can tell [you] is that every resource that we have [is being used in] attempting to rescue as many people as possible. And the end result is going to be some horrendous number of lives lost. I don’t think we know yet, but right now we have to just focus on saving as many people as possible.”


The mayor’s intent was to reassure the public, and he’d sounded candid, human and clearly in charge. But later that afternoon, after moving uptown to more commodious quarters at the Police Academy on East 20th Street, Giuliani held his first televised press conferences, and as he spoke he struck that uncanny balance between grief, anger and calm resolve that gave New Yorkers—and many in the nation—a voice with which to address the unfolding tragedy. “We will strive now very hard to save as many people as possible,” he said. “And to send a message that the City of New York and the United States of America is much stronger than any group of barbaric terrorists. That our democracy, that our rule of law, that our strength and willingness to defend ourselves will ultimately prevail…


“New York is still here,” he went on. “We’ve undergone tremendous losses, but New York is going to be here tomorrow morning, and this is the way of life that people want throughout the world.”




Perhaps no one who’d been at the site that morning—civilians and officials alike—escaped unscathed. Even the most fortunate survivors, it seems, left friends and coworkers behind. The men whom Giuliani had visited at the fire department’s forward post on West Street—chiefs Ray Downey and Pete Ganci, and Deputy Commissioner Bill Feehan—all died in the collapse of the North Tower. Mychal Judge, the department chaplain, died in the lobby of 1 World Trade Center, the victim of falling debris or possibly a heart attack, after he administered the last rites to a dying firefighter. John Coughlin, the ESU sergeant who once saved Bernie Kerik’s baby daughter, is still missing, buried no doubt beneath the rubble that was the Trade Center.









CHAPTER 2
THE GOOD GUYS


Neil Herman had just come home to his Westchester apartment with his morning papers and coffee. The phone was ringing. “Are you watching?” asked a familiar voice.


The caller was a supervisor in the FBI’s New York office, where Herman had served as chief of domestic terrorism for most of the 1990s. In fact, September 11 marked the third anniversary of a retirement party that had been held in Herman’s honor at the Windows on the World restaurant atop the North Tower of the World Trade Center.


“Am I watching what?” Herman asked.


“Flip on the TV,” his old colleague told him. “It will bring back memories.”


Louie Napoli, another of Herman’s old coworkers, was afforded much less time for reflection that morning. Standing at the window of the terrorism unit’s Lower Manhattan office, Napoli briefly had had the wherewithal to connect the sight of the two burning towers to a suspect: Osama bin Laden. But then he and the rest of the unit had hit the streets, and by the time he found himself running a second time from an avalanche of thunder and dust, his mind had gone blank. The towers were gone, the world was white; when the noise finally subsided, he couldn’t see ten feet in front of him. He was, though, still within shouting range of most of the other members of the task force. What to do next was a question no one’s experience or training could answer. Where to go was easier: Napoli’s unit commander chose to convene in a park about six blocks away in Chinatown. They’d get a head count of their survivors there, and somehow launch an investigation.


Tommy Corrigan figured the busy signal at Michael Seaman’s Long Island home was a good sign: The line had been tied up for a while, so maybe Michael had finally found a way to get a call through. Not that Corrigan had anything new to report to Michael’s wife. He’d reached a couple of his old colleagues in the terrorism unit before the second tower came down, but in their stunned, dust-covered state, they’d only strengthened his worst fears about the number of casualties. John O’Neill, they said, had disappeared, along with a few other of Corrigan’s old coworkers. Maybe Michael, he thought, had a better chance. Eight years earlier, the Cantor Fitzgerald securities trader had been one of very few civilians who’d set foot inside the 70-yard-wide crater blasted into the Trade Center’s underground garage by a van bomb. From that day on, Michael had had one more reason to dial up his old Queens College basketball teammate. “Am I safe in the building?” Michael would ask. It was a way of wrapping humor around a twinge of true fear.


“Yeah, you’re safe,” Corrigan would say.


“You sure?”


“You’ll be the first to know if I hear something.”


Now, when Corrigan needed a reason to hope, he told himself his closest friend wouldn’t have stayed at his desk on the 104th floor for long if he’d survived the first plane’s impact. Another busy signal at the Seaman house: Please let it be Michael calling in.




While no one who watched the September 11 assault on the U.S. was prepared for the horrors that unfolded that day, Neil Herman, Louie Napoli and Tommy Corrigan were among a select group who saw the attacks as something other than bolts out of a blue sky. The three men, as veterans of New York’s Joint Terrorism Task Force, or JTTF, had a history with the enemy that dated back more than 12 years, and even in their shock they each experienced the instant recognition when the second plane struck that they were witnessing a painfully logical escalation in a war that had consumed a large part of their careers. The memories were vivid: A sallow-skinned assassin who had kept files on the New York landmarks he planned to bomb. A blind and portly sheik, or religious scholar, who spoke in riddles but had radicalized Muslims from Cairo to Jersey City. A pencil-necked explosives expert who foreign authorities put on the run just as he was preparing to blow 11 airliners out of the stratosphere simultaneously. For sure, glasses of whiskey were raised when that globe-hopping jackal was finally captured, but the celebrations of plots disrupted hadn’t lingered in the mind like the images left by the plots that slipped through.




Some of those grim memories were on my mind too as I sat with Peter Jennings at the ABC News Desk and tried to find words worth speaking on the morning of September 11. In 1993, I had been down in that crater under the Trade Center. In 1994, I joined the New York Police Department as a deputy commissioner and for two years witnessed horrific crime scenes on an almost daily basis. In October 2000, I had watched forensics specialists gathering “DNA material” from a gutted U.S. Navy destroyer in a port off the Arabian Sea. But putting the pieces of the puzzle together that morning was beyond me, so I attempted to get hold of the one man I thought might be able to make sense of it all. I wrote Neil Herman’s name and number on a slip of paper and handed it to a desk assistant. His line was busy, I was told, but Neil later admitted that he had turned down all media requests that day. He had felt incapable, he said, of setting the day’s events into a larger framework, the kind that points firmly to a logical response to the challenge at hand.


I can’t remember another moment, in the two decades I’ve known Neil Herman, when the same could have been said.





Beginning in 1990, and for several years after, Neil Herman’s domestic terrorism unit at the JTTF represented the best hope America had of preventing a new international form of Islamic militantism from metastasizing into a potentially implacable threat. A few dozen New York police detectives and FBI agents couldn’t do that alone, of course. And really, they weren’t asked to. But this malicious movement’s first moorings in the U.S. happened to be dropped on turf that belonged to Neil Herman, Louie Napoli, Tommy Corrigan and the rest of the terrorism task force. Dutifully, they followed the leads, sometimes arriving tantalizingly close to the kind of break that might have smothered in its infancy the network that became al Qaeda. Eventually, most of the agents, including Herman, came to see that the threat had grown too big for the JTTF, or even for all the U.S. law enforcement agencies put together. At that point, when the guys from the New York office were trying to hunt down bombing conspiracies halfway around the world, the battle they saw and the one they were asked to fight had become two different things. They tried, but they were unable to make their superiors at the Justice Department, or in the White House, adequately appreciate why that was so.




If there was any one man or woman the higher-ups should have listened to, it was Neil Herman.


By the time he eased into private industry in 1998, the 51-year-old St. Louis native had spent well more than half his life in counterterrorism. Just 27 when the FBI assigned him a desk on the ground floor of that fledgling enterprise, Herman would spend his entire career in the Bureau’s New York office, leaving a formidable legacy that was built entirely on real achievements in some of the Bureau’s biggest cases—because whenever a little apple polishing was called for, big, rumpled Neil Herman just left bruises. From the time he took over JTTF’s domestic terror unit in 1990, he wore his bosses out with his Cassandra-like warnings and constant requests for more resources and manpower.




The son of a St. Louis sportswriter, Herman first arrived in New York in August 1974.


It was a good place for a smart 27-year-old agent to be. The 1970s were turning out to be a period of great change in the Bureau. The top positions were still held by old Hooverites—Cold War warriors who tended to see the world in black and white. But recruitment efforts were bringing in a new generation of agents who had come of age in the turbulent 1960s, and—because the Young Turks were better positioned than family men to cope with the expenses of city living—a disproportionate number of them ended up in the New York office.


A lot of the best work was in New York too. The domestic terrorism unit in particular would emerge as a talent magnet, a place where an ambitious young agent could expect plenty of action and plenty of chances to earn promotions.


“It was an exciting time,” Herman recalls. “Terrorism was in its infancy. It had never before had the dimension it had then.” From 1974 to 1978, a bomb was going off every month, it seemed, with the culprits ranging from anti-Castro Cubans to Croat nationalists to the FALN, the Puerto Rican pro-independence group. “There was no foundation or history for what was happening. We were responding from one crisis to the next, learning on the job as we went.”


The sandy-haired Midwesterner soon gained a reputation as a relentless, methodical investigator. Which is not to say he lacked imagination. Once, in fact, he had a parrot hypnotized and interrogated because it was the only eyewitness in a thorny murder case. Unfortunately, the bird refused to talk.


The young agents worked hard, and (what else?) they played hard too. The New York office of the FBI was located at the time in a converted tenstory shoe factory on the trendy Upper East Side. Most of the young guys lived nearby, and they spent many of their nights roaming Second Avenue’s bars and cafes, making the most of the hedonism of that too-short era before the AIDS crisis hit. The older generation lived in another universe entirely. “When there were snowstorms,” Herman notes, “we took over the office.” Because the older agents all lived out in the suburbs, they couldn’t get into town.




At joints like Omelias or the Hudson Bay Inn, the young agents drank Budweiser and traded war stories into the night. As a young reporter I drank with them, and in fact was one of very few reporters who were allowed into their world. I got to know guys from the Bank Squad and the Foreign Counterintelligence Squad besides the crew from the JTTF. And sometimes, late at night, a bomb would go off, and we’d all roll out together.


Only when my police friends were at the scene did these excursions get sticky—and not because of the drinking and driving. (This was, of course, years before the Bureau imposed stringent no-second-chance rules against mixing cars with alcohol.) A fierce rivalry had developed between the NYPD and the FBI on these cases. Cops and agents would almost come to blows over witnesses, crime scenes and evidence collection.





The competition eventually became so charged that in 1978, when police raided a bomb factory in Queens run by Willie Morales, a central figure in the FBI’s investigation into FALN, the cops barred Herman and his colleagues at the door.


A truce was needed. New York, with its vast financial and media resources, had become a theater for every group with a political axe to grind: FALN, the anti-Castro Omega 7, the Croats, the Serbs, the Jewish Defense League and various remnants of the Radical Left. The crisis begged law enforcement to put aside petty factionalism.


In 1980, a solution was finally hammered out. Following the model of a bank-robbery unit that had been created a year earlier, the FBI and NYPD agreed to create the nation’s first Joint Terrorism Task Force. The original plan called for 20 investigators—10 agents and 10 NYPD detectives—a small, nimble unit whose investigators would be able to work with minimal supervision. Herman was among the first agents drafted.


The task force’s first big case grew out of a 1981 botched armored-car robbery that left two police officers and one guard dead in Nyack, New York, a town 15 minutes north of the George Washington Bridge. The perpetrators, who netted $1.6 million from the Brinks holdup, turned out to be holdovers from the Black Liberation Army, the Black Panthers, the New Africa Republic and the Weather Underground, groups thought to have been defunct. JTTF investigators also were able to link the defendants to numerous other robberies, as well as the prison breakout of a cop killer named Joanne Chesimard.


Over a six-year period, Herman and his colleagues apprehended, and ultimately convicted, a virtual Who’s Who network of radical domestic terrorists. Cathy Boudin and Marilyn Jean Buck, from the Weather Underground, were both JTTF collars, as were Mutulu Shakur (Tupac Shakur’s stepfather) and Eddie Josephs of the Black Liberation Army. For the Brinks robbery, both radical groups had supplied guerilla fighters.


The Brinks convictions put JTTF on the map. But the case also pointed up a problem that continually plagues law enforcement. Many of the crimes enfolded into JTTF’s case had once been under investigation by the Bank Squad, so when those cases were taken and JTTF ended up with the credit for solving them, bad blood broke out between the two units. The ill feelings would come back to haunt JTTF.


A second, related investigation on which Herman was the case officer exposed another problem. This problem was systemic to law enforcement in general, and it would come back to haunt everyone.


The New Afrikan Freedom Fighters, or NAFF, was a successor group to the Brinks gang. In fact, NAFF was plotting the jailbreaks of two individuals who had been convicted in connection with the Brinks robbery when JTTF smashed the ring in October 1984.


NAFF had been planning a virtual crime wave of its own, but the problem with these crimes, the ones that Herman was charged with investigating, was that they had never left the drawing board. Though the investigation was one of the FBI’s largest to date and used every technique then known to law enforcement—from wiretaps to informants to old-fashioned stakeouts—a single shot had yet to be fired when eight suspects were arrested and accused of plotting another armored-car robbery.


The defendants, all of whom were well educated and black, referred to themselves as the New York 8, and their 1985 trial convened in a charged political atmosphere. In the end, though the evidence of conspiracy that JTTF collected was overwhelming—videotapes, witness testimony, diagrammed plans and a cache of high-powered weapons—the eight defendants were acquitted of all serious charges.


The verdict was the low point in Herman’s career. The investigation alone had taken more than two years—a lifetime by law enforcement standards—and the resources expended had been enormous. Legally, the case presented by prosecutors was built on solid ground. But the jury had delivered a very different message: If it hasn’t happened yet, it’s not a crime.


That message reverberated through the Bureau for years, though its effect would have no immediate impact on the safety of the American public.


Before the JTTF’s first decade was out, there would be one more horrendous act of terrorism carried out against a U.S. target—the downing in 1988 of Pan Am Flight 103 over Lockerbie, Scotland. After that, however, the FBI’s terror watch went quiet, and counterterrorism became less of a focus for the Bureau than it had been.


New York’s JTTF, along with imitators that had sprung up around the country during the 1980s, had largely succeeded in tamping down home-grown terrorism. And the international picture was equally encouraging: By the early 1990s, many in government felt that the selective application of economic sanctions and diplomatic pressure had ended, or at least sufficiently curbed, the threat of state-sponsored terrorism. In the upper realms of the Bureau, no one was interested in spending a lot of time and resources on trying to guess what was coming next. Apparently, the bosses had taken to heart the message from the jury in the NAFF trial.


A new cycle of terror was about to begin, however. The first harbinger was a stocky Egyptian janitor who took it upon himself to assassinate a radical Jewish leader in a New York City hotel ballroom. Herman and his JTTF investigators understood almost immediately that the gunman belonged to a larger movement, and as the years passed, leads crossed and the movement’s violence escalated, the task force came to see that this terrorist organization was unlike any that had come before it.


As Tommy Corrigan saw it, this international conglomerate gave new resonance to the term “umbrella organization.” It had spokes all over the world—in New York and in the Southwest; in capital cities throughout Europe; in East Africa, the Philippines, Upper Egypt and Malaysia. Investigations that ate up years took out only a spoke at a time, and when the true shape of this adversary became clear, the guys doing the investigations realized they were trying to bring down an entrenched global army with nothing but their badges and a pile of court papers.


On the day Corrigan left the task force in early 2001 to fulfill a longtime ambition of starting a business, he confessed to a few colleagues his worry that he was bailing out on them at a critical moment in one such al Qaeda investigation. The contest, though, had gone beyond critical moments. “This is not gonna end,” one of his colleagues told him. “Whenever you leave, there will always be something on the table.”


Six months later, on the morning that his best friend, Michael Seaman, died, Corrigan realized that even the notion of a global army didn’t accurately represent what the American people were up against. Until September 11, al Qaeda had seemed to limit its targets to government sites or military installations. True, the group had shown little concern about killing civilians in the process, but none of Corrigan’s speculations about the next escalation in the confrontation had prepared him for the image of dozens of airline passengers being strapped to a weapon of mass destruction.


“I felt, watching that second plane hit the tower, that it was the most barbaric act that any human being could do to another human being,” he says. “As much as I thought I understood the people in that world, this was…this was mind-boggling.”


Now, sitting in his living room watching the Towers collapse, Neil Herman was overcome with emotion. For more than three years, he had investigated the first attack on the Towers, the 1993 bombing of the World Trade Center, and hunted down its mastermind, Ramzi Yousef.


“This was Ramzi Yousef’s dream. His goal had been accomplished. It was eerie. Here it was, eight years later, and I remember thinking: ‘Jesus, you know, they really did succeed.’”


The phone began ringing: friends, the media. Through it all, Herman felt a bone-deep sadness. “A sense of failure,” he says. “This is what they wanted to do and it had taken them a long time, but they did it. They’d won, we lost.”


But as the day wore on, Herman began to feel angry. “One after another, commentators who really should have known better came on the TV saying, ‘This is unprecedented. No one’s ever attacked us on our soil like this,’” Herman recalls. “It was like 1993 had never happened. It was the same target, for God’s sake. Maybe even the same group. It was eerie, sort of like a flashback. I felt like it was happening all over again.”









CHAPTER 3
THE FIRST TERRORIST


Rabbi Meir Kahane finished his speech to rousing applause. The fiery orator had touched on lifelong themes: the immigration of Jews to, and expulsion of Palestinians from, Israel.


As he stepped down from the podium and into the ballroom of the Marriott Hotel in midtown Manhattan that evening, Kahane, the 58-year-old founder of the Jewish Defense League and a former member of the Israeli Parliament, was surrounded by followers.


It was November 5, 1990.


Opposite Kahane, at the back of the hall, a 35-year-old Egyptian-born militant named El Sayyid Nosair met with his friend, Bilall Alkaisi. “It looks okay,” Nosair told him. “I think we can do it.”


Alkaisi glanced nervously around the room. A wiry Palestinian with a trim black beard, he was armed and, like the stocky, sallow-skinned Nosair, was wearing a yarmulke for disguise. The two men had had similar conferrals in the past. For more than a year, they’d been attending Kahane’s speaking engagements with the understanding that if his security seemed lax, they’d kill him. “Relax,” Bilall said. “I’ll be back in a moment.”


Maybe Alkaisi didn’t believe Nosair would actually shoot Kahane. Or maybe he didn’t want to be involved if he did. Whatever his motivation, Alkaisi left for the men’s room.


Nosair draped a coat over his arm, drew a .357 Magnum revolver from his waistband and ambled to the front of the hall.


A young man was videotaping Kahane as the rabbi chatted with his circle of admirers. Nosair paused at the fringe of the crowd until the camera stopped rolling. Then, aiming the revolver from his hip, Nosair slipped back the coat and fired twice, hitting Kahane in his neck and chest.


As Kahane slumped to the floor, Nosair dashed for the rear exit. The room was in chaos. People were screaming. Nosair began screaming too. “It’s Allah’s will,” he yelled.


At the door, Irving Franklin, a 70-year-old Jewish activist, grabbed Nosair in a bear hug. Nosair shot him in the leg and continued fleeing. Outside the hotel, he clambered into a waiting taxi on Lexington Avenue and banged on the divider, expecting to see the face of his friend Mahmoud Abouhalima, the giant red-headed Egyptian who some investigators thought was supposed to drive the getaway car. Instead, he saw the fear-stricken face of a Hispanic man from the Bronx. Hotel security had shooed Abouhalima from the entrance.


Nosair ordered him, “Just go.” But the taxi barely made it to the next corner south before traffic, and a red light, halted their progress. A crowd from the hotel was now coursing through the lines of cars, searching for Kahane’s shooter. Nosair hunched down in the backseat of the cab, but one of his pursuers spotted him and began banging on the window. In the confusion, the taxi driver jumped out from behind the wheel, while Nosair slipped out the other side of the cab in front of the Grand Central Station Post Office.


Carlos Acosta, a uniformed U.S. postal police officer, was standing in the entrance. Assuming he’d stumbled onto a livery car hold-up, he ducked back into the doorway and reached for his gun. Nosair, determined to keep heading downtown past Acosta, edged along the building façade, hoping to get a shot off as he ran past the doorway. But Acosta popped out and confronted him first.


Both men fired at once.


Nosair got off two shots. The first bullet hit Acosta in the chest, but was deflected into his shoulder by the bulletproof vest he was wearing. The second whizzed past his head. Acosta fired just once. But it was enough. The bullet hit Nosair in the neck and chin, rupturing his jugular and knocking him to the ground.


Nosair’s accomplice, Bilall Alkaisi, meanwhile, had exited the hotel. He jogged a few blocks south to Nosair’s parked green sedan and slid in behind the wheel, shouldering the driver, a Palestinian named Mohammed Salameh, into the passenger’s seat. Alkaisi didn’t wait to find out what had happened to Nosair before flooring the accelerator. Witnesses later reported seeing two bug-eyed Middle Eastern men in the front seat of a green sedan careening the wrong way down Park Avenue.


As the sedan disappeared into traffic, Nosair was rushed downtown to Bellevue Hospital. He arrived in the emergency room moments after Kahane had been carried in from another ambulance.




As all this unfolded, I was sitting with Captain Sal Blando and a bunch of other Manhattan homicide detectives at Campagnola, an Italian restaurant on the Upper East Side. Blando, the Detective Bureau commander for midtown Manhattan, had starved himself all day, even skipping lunch so he could better savor the restaurant’s classic Sicilian bracciole. The rest of us had followed his lead when it came time to order, and the plates were just being set on the table when all of our beepers went off at once.


A flash from the Operations Unit at Police Headquarters: “Shooting on Lexington Avenue, federal officer down, perp shot, rabbi seriously wounded.” I dialed my news desk for details, as the cops used their cell phones to call the police operations desk. “Holy shit, the rabbi is Meir Kahane,” I said to the table. “And it looks like he’s going out of the picture at Bellevue.”


We all hurried out the front door as our confused waiters placed the last plates in front of our empty chairs. There would be no dinner.


Car doors banged shut, red lights were clapped onto the roofs and sirens began to scream. We sped down Lexington Avenue in a caravan to the crime scene. But the chaos at the hotel didn’t hold much promise for a reporter, so I stayed only a moment before jumping back in my car to head to Bellevue, where Kahane had just been pronounced dead.


Nosair, who would survive his wounds by some miracle of modern medicine, would claim years later that he had coated the bullets with cyanide. Whatever the truth his other two victims that night—Irving Franklin and Carlos Acosta—would both survive too.


As I raced downtown, I called an old friend, Barry Slotnick, who had been Kahane’s lawyer for the past 20 years, and filled him in on what had happened. “Meir Kahane is dead,” I told him. “He’s at Bellevue.”


There was a pause at the other end of the line. “I’m on my way,” Slotnick said.


For many, Meir Kahane was not a sympathetic victim. As leader of the Jewish Defense League in the 1960s and 1970s, he’d been linked to bombings and sniper attacks on the Soviet Union’s Mission to the United Nations. The JTTF had a huge file on Kahane and his associates. Even in the 1990s, his rabid anti-Arab views and terrorist tactics had made him a pariah among Jews and Arabs alike. Israel had outlawed his ultra-right-wing Kach party, and New York’s Jewish establishment shunned him.


At a lunch we’d had together a few weeks before at Schmulky Bernstein’s deli on the Lower East Side, Kahane had told me that the Arabs could never assimilate as citizens of Israel. “It’s not meant to be a melting pot, like America,” he explained. “If the Arabs were given full rights as citizens of Israel, then soon they would outnumber the Jews there.”


Then it would not be a Jewish state, which was, he pointed out, the very reason for Israel’s formation. “I know it’s not a popular position to take in a place like America,” he said. “But that is the way it has to be.”


As Kahane’s lifeless body lay in a trauma room, Bellevue was swarming with cops, television crews, rabbis and Jewish leaders. Kahane’s following in New York may not have been wide, but it was deep.


Slotnick was negotiating with the Mayor’s Office and police brass to have the body released to the family immediately. Under Orthodox Jewish law, Kahane had to be buried within 24 hours of his death, and Slotnick was making a persuasive argument that an autopsy would not tell the police a lot they didn’t already know. Kahane had died of gunshot wounds in front of dozens of witnesses, many of whom saw the gunman. Nothing was immediately known about Nosair’s accomplices—if there were accomplices—but the cause of death didn’t look like a case Quincy would have to crack.


Slotnick was an influential member of the bar who had close ties to the city’s Jewish community, which itself had and still does have plenty of political clout. The cops and the chief medical examiner may have wanted an autopsy, but it was not to be. Mayor David Dinkins’s office interceded, and the body was released to the family and flown to Israel.


I left the hospital and sped across the river to Jersey City. On a treelined street, I found the address the police thought was home to the shooter, El Sayyid Nosair. It was well past one in the morning, though, and there was no sign of life. I knew I’d be back at daybreak to talk to the alleged killer’s neighbors, but I also knew that if I were going to get a jump on the rest of the media, I would have to keep working while my colleagues went to sleep.


It had to be 2:30 by the time I got to Melon’s, a great old Upper East Side watering hole, and found Steve Davis at one of the front tables. Davis, a longtime friend, had been one of the cops I had started the night with at Campagnola. Now Davis began telling me an important story. Nosair, the NYPD had already learned, had apparently not acted alone.
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